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The Enosburg Opera House is a large frame building set among undistinguished smaller 
buildings and structures of various ages which do not constitute an historic district. 
The main (south) facade of the building is three large bays in width, with an attached 
stair tower. This tower, like the rest of the building, is sheathed in narrow clapboards 
for most of its height. It rises approximately 3-1/2 stories and is a highly visible 
village landmark.

The tower is visually divided into four elements. It rests on a high shiplap base­ 
ment over an uncoursed ashlar foundation, as does the rest of the building. Separated 
from this by a slightly projecting stringcourse is the lower principal section which is 
the same height as the body of the main mass. This section contains, on each of the three 
visible facades, a double-hung Queen Anne window in a plain board surround, and a larger 
rectangular window above it, also in the Queen Anne mode and in a similar surround. This 
section is separated from the one above it by a band of flush vertical boards, which 
aligns with the frieze line of the main mass of the building. Above this is a slightly 
flared band of shingles.

The next section begins above this band and is completely plain except for a large 
blind oculus just below center. This may have been intended for a clock. This section 
of the tower terminates in a simplified entablature consisting of a plain board architrave, 
a course of dentils and a box cornice.

The tower is capped by a sharply pitched pyramidal slate roof, with a small pointed 
finial. Each face of the roof contains a large round-arch roof dormer, infilled with 
plywood.

The principal mass of the building also rests on a high shiplap basement over the 
uncoursed ashlar foundation. The principal entry is in the center of the facade, and, 
being at grade, breaks the foundation and the basement. It is deeply recessed, creating 
a feeling of massiveness by implying very thick walls, contrary to the usual "thin" feel­ 
ing in buildings of this period. To the left of the entry is a plain basement window.

The string course is at the level of the main floor of the Opera House, and those 
parts above it are treated more decoratively. On the piano nobile directly above the 
entrance is a tall double 2/2 window with stained panes in a diamond pattern. The two 
windows are joined by a heavy wooden mullion, which also divides their respective tran­ 
soms. To the left of this window, directly above the basement window, is a similar 2/2 
stained glass window, also with a stained glass transom.

The righthand bay of the facade is identical to the left, but projects slightly 
from the main block. This bay, by projecting, balances the tower and its fenestration 
completes the symmetry of the recessed main block. This projection terminates in a pedi- 
mented gable. The main block is terminated by a simple box cornice over a plain board 
frieze.

Centered on the facade above the windows is a narrow wooden sign painted black with 
gold lettering which reads OPERA HOUSE. Above this is a smaller sign reading 1892.

The roof of the building is slate, in a modified hip configuration with a small 
gable at the peak.

The four-bay side facades are nearly identical. They are lit by basement windows 
below tall stained glass windows in a fenestration identical to the flanking bays in the 
main facade. The right (east) facade also includes a door to the main floor between the 
second and third bays, which is reached by a flight of stairs.
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The rear (north)•facade is clapboarded and is totally blank with the exception of 
two basement windows. The cornerboards at the rear corners support small cornice 
returns.

Towards the rear of the building is a small cross gable, containing two quarter- 
round windows.

The principal space of the main floor is a large hall, seating 600, with a stage 
at the rear (north) end. The room retains its original tongue and groove wainscoting 
and its original movable folding seating. The basement is used for ticket sales, 
offices, dressing rooms, storage, and mechanical systems.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Enosburg Opera House was built in 1892 as an act of benevolence by the B. J, Kendall 
Company. This company was founded in 1879 by Dr. B. J. Kendall, a local pharmacist. He 
discovered, by an unknown means, a remedy which was "peculiarly beneficial when applied 
to horses affected with the infirmity comiranonly called a 'spavin'." The remedy was mar­ 
keted as "Kendall's Spavin Cure" and eventually made Kendall and his partners wealthy. 
Kendall later wrote a book (Dr. Kendall's Treatise on the Horse) which was widely distri­ 
buted. The company also branched out into "Dr. Flint's Condition Powders" and a prepara­ 
tion known as "anti-aploplectine."

The company was generous to the town, and contributed to civic improvements in the 
latter part of the 19th century. The Opera House was one manifestation of this generosity. 
Built in 1892, it was turned over to the town two years later. It served several purposes, 
First, prior to its construction there was no town hall, which is important to the tradi­ 
tional New England town meeting form of government. The company used it for its own medi­ 
cine shows, as well as traveling shows, medical and otherwise. Among the performers who 
appeared here is John Philip Sousa.

The building, unaltered except for routine maintenance and modern facilities, retains 
its original functions. It is used for town meetings in March of each year and hosts 
traveling musicians and locally produced theater. It continues to be a viable public 
hall and the center of the town's community life.

While its architecture could not be considered outstanding, it is impressive for a 
village the size of Enosburg Falls, as well as a highly visible symbol of the Town's ties 
to the Kendall Company. (Several other company buildings exist, although not in the 
neighborhood of the Opera House.) It is an important building in the village, both 
visually and historically, as shown by the vigor with which its preservation is being pur­ 
sued by the community.

Lewis C. Aldrich, History of Franklin and Grand Isle Counties (Syracuse, D. Mason and 
Co., 1891), p. 441.
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